2005

Kristyna Diane Rose v. Donovan T. Rose : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE APPELLATE COURT

Jurisdiction of this appeal is conferred on this Court pursuant to section 78-2a-3(2)(h) of the Utah Code.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Whether the trial court erred in awarding sole physical custody of the parties' minor child to petitioner. Considerable discretion is given to the trial court in making custody decisions, ““unless it appears that the trial court has given short shrift to the statutory criteria.”” Sigg v. Sigg, 905 P.2d 908, 916 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (quoting Moon v. Moon, 790 P.2d 52, 54 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

Whether the trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its custody award is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Cf. Entropy v. Entropy, 914 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). The issue of custody of the parties' minor child was preserved by Respondent's Answer and CounterClaim to Petitioner's Verified Complaint for Divorce (R.30) and certification of the issue to the trial court (R.341).

Issue 2: Whether the trial court erred in finding that petitioner is not underemployed and refusing to impute income to her. Appellate courts may not set aside a trial court's findings of fact unless the finding is clearly erroneous. Roderick v. Ricks, 2002 UT 84, ¶ 27, 54 P.3d 1119. Whether the trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its conclusion that income should not be

imputed petitioner is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Cf. Endrody v. Endrody, 914 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). The issue of whether full-time income should be imputed to petitioner was preserved by respondent's closing argument at trial (R.646, at 44:21-45:8).

Issue 3: Whether the trial court erred in awarding alimony to petitioner. The trial court's award of alimony is reviewed for an abuse of discretion and will not be disturbed if the trial court exercises its discretion within the standards set by the appellate courts. Bakanowski v. Bakanowski, 2003 UT App 357, ¶ 7, 80 P.3d 153. Whether the trial court's findings of fact are sufficient to support its alimony award is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Cf. Endrody v. Endrody, 914 P.2d 1166, 1169 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). The issue of alimony was preserved by Respondent's Answer and CounterClaim to Petitioner's Verified Complaint for Divorce (R.30) and certification of the issue to the trial court (R.341).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of this appeal or of central importance to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Third District Court dissolving the parties' marriage and entering orders regarding custody, child support, allocation of marital debt, and alimony.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

Petitioner Kristyna Diane Rose ("petitioner") initiated divorce proceedings against respondent Donovan T. Rose ("respondent") on May 27, 2003, after less than three years of marriage (R.4). In her verified complaint for divorce, petitioner requested that she be awarded the "permanent care, custody and control of the parties' minor child," (R.5, ¶ 10), Madysen Rose, born September 5, 2002, and that respondent's parent-time with the child be supervised (R.9, ¶ 12). Respondent filed an answer and counterclaim and also requested an award of sole custody of Madysen (R.30, 34, ¶ 7).

Petitioner subsequently filed a motion for temporary relief, again requesting that respondent have supervised parent-time only (R.54, ¶ 2). In support of her request that visitation be supervised, petitioner alleged that she had been "advised by counselors and church leaders that [respondent] should not be allowed unsupervised visitation with Madysen (R.59, ¶ 10)." Petitioner also requested an award of temporary alimony in the amount of \$1,000 per month (R.55, ¶ 6), but submitted no financial declaration or other evidence of need. She claimed to be

“unemployed,” but also working for her sister “in return for her paying my attorney’s fees” (R.59, ¶ 12).

Respondent filed a responsive affidavit (R.74), and a complete financial declaration listing his gross income and his expenses, which included maintenance of the parties’ marital debt in the amount of \$734 per month, and attached a current paystub (R.65).

Petitioner’s motion was heard September 16, 2003 before the domestic relations commissioner. Petitioner was awarded temporary sole legal and physical custody of Madysen, and respondent was awarded temporary parent-time, unsupervised, per the minimum schedule for noncustodial parents set forth at Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-35.5 (R. 181-82, ¶¶ 1-2). The court ordered a custody evaluation to be performed, with the parties to agree upon the evaluator (R.182, ¶ 4). Respondent was ordered to maintain payments “on all debt owed by the Respondent or the parties” (R.183, ¶ 9). The issue of temporary alimony was reserved (R.182, ¶ 7).

On September 29, 2003, petitioner filed an objection to the commissioner’s recommendation, taking issue with the commissioner’s failure to recommend that respondent’s parent-time be supervised (R.92). In support of her motion, petitioner re-filed her own affidavit and, additionally, filed the affidavit of her sister, which alleged that respondent had been abusive with her children and other

children in the family (R.110). Petitioner also requested a stay of the order allowing respondent unsupervised parent-time with Madysen (R.128). The objection was overruled by minute entry ruling dated November 18, 2003 (R.196).

On November 14, 2003, petitioner sought and obtained a temporary restraining order, without notice to counsel for respondent or certification regarding efforts made to provide such notice, which restrained respondent from exercising parent-time with Madysen (R.203). At the preliminary injunction hearing held 10 days later, the temporary restraining order was dissolved, and the court ordered petitioner “not to interfere with defendant’s visitation with the child (R.224).” The court also ordered that a third-party act as an intermediary to transfer the child for parent-time, and that the transfer take place at petitioner’s home (R.224).

On February 23, 2004, petitioner filed yet another motion for temporary relief, together with a motion for temporary restraining order, this time requesting that respondent’s parent-time be reduced below the statutory minimum (R.248; R.261). Petitioner did not schedule a hearing on this motion.

Subsequently, the court-appointed custody evaluator, Dr. Heather Walker, notified the parties that she had completed her evaluation (R.290). A pre-trial settlement conference was scheduled for June 16, 2004 (R.337). Respondent filed his updated financial declaration on May 3, 2004 (R.295). The updated financial

declaration did not include continued maintenance of the parties' marital debt as a line item in respondent's expenses, though the total amount of \$684 required on a monthly basis to maintain the expenses was included in the "Debts and Obligations" section of the financial declaration (R.296-97). Respondent's monthly expenses, without the \$684 included for debt maintenance, were \$1,760.79 (R.299), his gross income was \$2,166.67, and his net income was \$1,891.85 (R.296).

Petitioner did not file a financial declaration or other evidence of any kind to indicate her income or expenses.

Dr. Walker submitted her child custody settlement conference report June 16, 2004 at the pre-trial settlement conference held that same date (R.652). In her report, Dr. Walker addressed the Rule 4-903 factors, noting that Madysen displayed equal attachment to both parents (R.652, at 3, ¶ 3), that petitioner "tends to be overly dependent upon her family and is submissive to their wishes" (R.652, at 3, ¶ 5.a.), that petitioner had made allegations of abuse against Donovan and reported him to child protective services, but the allegations had been found by the Division of Child and Family Services to be "Without Merit" and the Division had expressed concern about petitioner's inconsistencies in the reporting (R.652, at 3, ¶ 5.i.), that petitioner had not been willing to provide maximum access to respondent (R.652, at 4, ¶ 6.A.), that petitioner was unable to set good boundaries

between herself and Madysen (R.652, at 4, ¶ 6.B.), and that petitioner was unable to put Madysen's need for her father ahead of her own dislike or fear of respondent (R.652, at 4, ¶ 6.C.). Dr. Walker also noted that "one factor that plays a major role is that Kristyna's family does not like Donovan and does not encourage visitation. The concern is that over time Madysen will be exposed to much denigration of her father, and this is a set up for parent rejection" (R.652, at 5).

Dr. Walker recommended, *inter alia*, that respondent's parent-time with Madysen increase "until there is a three-day, four-day split", with the four-day parent being petitioner if she was cooperative with the process and respondent if she was not. Dr. Walker also recommended that the parties participate in therapy, attend a high-conflict co-parenting class, attend parenting classes, communicate directly, and that exchanges of the child take place at Willwin, a neutral setting, rather than at petitioner's home through the third-party intermediary designated by petitioner (R.652, at 5).

At the conclusion of the settlement conference, the commissioner certified the matter for trial on the issues of custody, debt allocation, alimony, and attorney fees (R.341). Thereafter, respondent requested a trial setting (R.343).

Petitioner objected to respondent's request for a trial setting (R.349) and filed a motion for temporary relief requesting, *inter alia*, the appointment of Dr.

Earl R. Seegrist to perform a second custody evaluation (R.369-70). This relief was granted at a hearing held August 11, 2004 before the domestic relations commissioner (R.426). Subsequently, the trial court granted petitioner a 45-day continuance of the scheduled trial date to allow the second evaluation to be completed (R.442).

Dr. Seegrist submitted his custody evaluation report September 28, 2004, two days prior to trial (R.652, at 7). Dr. Seegrist addressed the Rule 4-903 factors, as did Dr. Walker. Dr. Seegrist found that Madysen had bonded with both parents and that both parents were appropriate, nurturing and demonstrated good parent-child interaction (R.652, at 8, ¶ 5.C.). Dr. Seegrist expressed concern about petitioner's "unwillingness to cooperate and work openly with respondent" (R.652, at 8, ¶ 5.D.), and the strong negative influence that petitioner's mother had on petitioner, which "given the structure of [petitioner's] enmeshed and controlling family system," raised significant doubt as to whether respondent "will ever have open, emotionally healthy, unrestricted access to perform his role as Madysen's father" (R.652, at 9-10, ¶¶ 5.E.vii & 5.F). Dr. Seegrist emphasized that petitioner "demonstrates unfounded fears of respondent that are believed to be fostered, if not originated from her mother. . . . [Petitioner] appears to be overly suggestible to her mother's opinions. If [petitioner] can gain physical, emotional and financial independence from her family, she will be much better suited to act

in Madysen's best interest" (R.652, at 11). Finally, Dr. Seegrist expressed concern over petitioner's "possible malicious filing of faults [sic], misleading or irresponsible suspicion[s] of sexual abuse," noting that this type of behavior "may significantly hamper a positive father-daughter relationship between Donovan and Madysen" (R.652, at 10, ¶ (5)(E)(ix)).

Dr. Seegrist recommended that the parties share joint legal and physical custody of Madysen, "with as near to equal time as can be logistically arranged" (R.652, at 11). He concluded, "It is in Madysen's best interest that she have both parents involved with her. However, if one parent seeks to restrict Madysen's access to the other parent, it is in Madysen's best interest to be placed in the Full Physical and Legal custody of the open, non-restricting parent, with the other parent receiving Utah Statutory Visitation. This is to ensure the most stable and emotionally nurturing home environment for Madysen" (R.652, at 11).

The bench trial commenced September 30, 2004 at 10:30 a.m., as scheduled. The parties each testified. No exhibits were introduced, and no witnesses other than the parties were called (R.646).

With respect to her monthly expenses, petitioner testified only that she paid \$300 per month in rent (R.646, at 10:15). She submitted no financial declaration or other evidence of need. She also testified that she was living with her parents and receiving assistance from them (*id.* at 10:23 – 11:2). She testified that she was

aware of only three marital debts (id. at 18:1-11), which she was not in a financial position to pay except “a little bit at a time” (id. at 19:9-13), which is why, she testified, she was “hoping for alimony if he’s not going to take care of [the marital debt]” (id.).

As to her ability to meet her own need, petitioner testified that she was employed at Bluffdale Elementary as a PE specialist (id. at 8:17). She testified that she made \$8.17 per hour and worked 12 hours per week (id. at 8:21). She testified that she was employed during the marriage full-time, that she had no disability that would prevent her from working full-time now (id. at 20:11-18), and that her mother cared for Madysen while she worked at no cost to her (id. at 15:20-16:5).

On the issue of custody, petitioner testified that “[T]he most important thing for my daughter right now would be a stable environment where she’s not going to be changed, moved around a lot, because it would be hard on me, but I feel that Madysen, the best interest for Madysen is to have a relationship with both of her parents but also if we can try not to have her moved around as much as possible” (id. at 14:3).

For his part, respondent testified that the financial declaration he had filed with the court accurately set forth his income, with the exception of a 20-cent raise that he received July 1, 2005, his expenses, and the marital debt (id. at 34:11-23).

As to custody, respondent testified that he did not believe that petitioner's actions in the past year showed that she understood that Madysen's spending time with both parents and having a relationship with both parents is in fact in Madysen's best interest (id. at 29:20-30:5). He testified that it was his desire for Madysen to have a relationship with her mother that was not restricted in any way, but that he would also like to have that same privilege, as Madysen's father (id. at 37:1-11).

Thereafter, counsel for the parties gave closing argument, concluding their comments at 11:27 a.m. The court ruled from the bench at 11:30 a.m., and the court's Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law (R.569) and Decree of Divorce (R.599) based thereon were entered April 14, 2005.

The court awarded the parties joint legal custody of Madysen, with petitioner being awarded sole physical custody, subject to respondent's parent-time pursuant to the minimum schedule for non-custodial parents set forth at Utah code Ann. §§ 30-3-35.5 and 30-3-35 (R.577-79, ¶¶ 16-17). The court found, in support of this award, that consistency in the caregiving arrangement was an important issue for the child, and that respondent would require more surrogate care than petitioner in that he works full-time while petitioner works only 12 hours per week (R.577-78, ¶ 16.a.). The court also acknowledged and agreed with the findings of both the custody evaluators, but took issue with their conclusions that

a joint physical custody arrangement would be appropriate, finding that such an arrangement would be “productive of considerable on-going dispute between these parties” (R.578, ¶ 16.b.i.). Finally, the court found that there was no evidence to support any claim of physical abuse, but that there clearly were “emotional resentments and/or disagreements” that would affect the ability of the parties to cooperate to the extent required by a joint physical custody order (R.579, ¶ 16.c.).

On the issues of child support and alimony, the court found that “no persuasive evidence was presented to the Court that the Petitioner is underemployed.” The court declined to impute full-time income to petitioner “in light of the fact that Petitioner has cared for and will continue to care for the two (2) year old minor child in her home” (R.580, ¶ 19). The court thus determined petitioner’s gross income to be \$424.84 per month, based on a 12-hour work week. The court found respondent’s gross income to be \$2,201.33 per month, based on a 40-hour work week (R.580, ¶ 18).

As to petitioner’s need for alimony, the court found that the need had been established by petitioner’s testimony that she is supported by her parents and receives food stamps and welfare supplements (R.584, ¶26). With no other findings of any kind pertinent to petitioner’s actual expenses, the court concluded that a “reasonable and fair sum to be paid for alimony is \$750 per month” (*id.*).

As to respondent's ability to pay alimony, the court found, without explanation, that respondent had overstated his expenses and that the amount of \$1,943 per month (determined by averaging respondent's monthly expenses from his two financial declarations, less amounts claimed for payment of tithing), "far exceeded any disposable earnings or income available to the Petitioner in this case" (R.584-85, ¶ 27). Thus, the court found, respondent did have the ability to pay \$750 per month in alimony, in addition to \$304.08 in child support (R.580, ¶ 20), and all the marital debt (R.586, ¶ 30).

The trial court's Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce were entered April 14, 2005. Respondent filed his timely Notice of Appeal on April 29, 2005 (R.628).

Statement of Facts

Petitioner and respondent were married to one another on June 24, 2000 (R.573, ¶ 8). Their only child, Madysen, was born September 5, 2002 (R.576, ¶ 13). The parties were separated after less than three years of marriage, on April 15, 2003, when petitioner left the marital home with the parties' child while respondent was at school (R.74, ¶ 3; R.573, ¶ 8;). Madysen was 7 months old at the time (R.576, ¶13).

The parties both cared for Madysen prior to the separation (R.74, ¶ 2). However, after the separation, petitioner engaged in a concerted effort to restrict

respondent's access to Madysen, which included filing false reports of sexual abuse with the Division of Child and Family Services (R.652, at 3, ¶ 5.i.; R.652, at 10, ¶ 5.E.ix.), attempting to deny respondent unsupervised parent-time with Madysen (R.9, ¶ 12; R.54, ¶ 2; R.59, ¶ 10; R.92; R.110; R.128), obtaining temporary restraining orders on an ex parte and emergency basis prohibiting respondent from exercising parent-time with Madysen (R.203), and attempting to have respondent's parent-time with Madysen reduced below the statutory minimum (R.248; R.261).

Nevertheless, respondent persevered in maintaining his relationship with Madysen, despite petitioner's attempts to undermine the relationship and restrictions imposed by the temporary order, which limited his time with Madysen to the statutory minimum. At the time of trial, the uncontroverted evidence established that the strength of Madysen's bond with respondent was equal to that of her bond with petitioner (R.652, at 3, ¶ 3; R.652, at 8, ¶ 5.C.). There is no evidence that respondent has ever attempted to restrict petitioner's access to Madysen, nor to undermine petitioner's role as Madysen's mother. Respondent's desire is for Madysen to have both of her parents in her life, and for both he and petitioner to have the privilege of an unrestricted relationship with their daughter (R.646, at 37:5-11).

Petitioner was employed throughout the marriage (R.381, ¶ 8), historically on a full-time basis (R.646, at 20:11-15). She suffers no disability that prevents her from working full-time (R.646, at 20:16-18). Petitioner enjoys free child care provided by her mother (R.646, at 15:20-16:5).

Respondent also worked during the marriage and continued to do so after the parties separated. He also has child care available to him, through his sister (R.652, at 9, ¶ 5.E.iii).

At the time of trial, petitioner made \$8.17 per hour, for a gross monthly income of \$1,416.12 if employed full-time. Respondent made \$12.70 per hour, for a gross monthly income, based on full-time employment, of \$2,201.33 (R.580, ¶ 18). Respondent's uncontroverted monthly deductions for income tax, FICA, and health insurance totaled \$274.82 (R.296), leaving him a net monthly income of \$1,926.51. After payment of child support in the amount of \$304.08 per month (R.580, ¶ 20) and payment of marital debt for petitioner's benefit in the amount of \$177 per month¹ (R.296-97), respondent was left with \$1,445.51 per month to meet his monthly expenses.

¹ The three marital debts held in both the parties' name, and therefore nondischargeable as to petitioner upon bankruptcy of respondent, are the American Express debt of \$2,500, with a monthly payment of \$122, the Sam's Club debt of \$480, with a monthly payment of \$25, and the US Bank Res. Debt of \$1,000, with a monthly payment of \$30 (R.296-97).

Respondent's uncontroverted monthly expenses, not including tithing or maintenance of debts in respondent's individual name, were \$1,560.79 at the time of trial. This budget included nothing for clothing, dental expenses, child care, or entertainment. No item on respondent's monthly expenses is unusually high or out of the ordinary, and no item was challenged by petitioner in any way or found to be unreasonable by the trial court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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