2005

Kristyna Diane Rose v. Donovan T. Rose : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

**** STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**
[Utah Court of Appeals]

Notice of appeal was filed by appellant / respondent (Donovan T. Rose) within thirty (30) days of date of entry of judgment. [Judgment **filed** April 14, 2005 (**Record Vol II P- 599**), Notice of Appeal **filed** April 29, 2005 (**Record Vol II P- 628-630**)].

On February 15, 2005 appellant / respondent (Donovan T. Rose) filed with the trial court document captioned "OBJECTION TO PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT, & CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND PROPOSED DECREE OF DIVORCE" (**Record Vol II P 490 - 493**). On April 5, 2005 appellee / petitioner (Kristyna Diane Rose) filed with the trial court document captioned "RESPONSE TO RESPONDENT'S OBJECTION TO FORM OF PROPOSED FINDINGS & CONCLUSIONS AND DECREE OF DIVORCE" supported by a transcript of trial court's findings and conclusions on day of trial (**Record Vol II P 510 - 521**). On April 13, 2005, trial court overruled respondent's objections to proposed findings and decree on basis that the court was "...persuaded sufficient credible evidence was adduced to support the same as drafted." (**Record Vol II P – 567-568**).

There were no post-judgment motions filed by either party with trial court.

**** Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(4) Statement of Jurisdiction]**

**** JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE

Utah R App P Rule 3 [Appeal as of right: how taken.]

[(a) Filing appeal from final orders and judgments.]

Utah R App P Rule 4 [Appeal as of right: when taken.]

[(a) Appeal from final judgment and order.]

[(b) Time for appeal shall run from the entry of the order denying a new trial or granting or denying any other such motion]

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED

UCA 78-2a-3(2)(e) "Court of Appeals Jurisdiction"

[(2)(h) appeals from district court involving domestic relations cases, including, but not limited to, divorce, annulment, property division, child custody, support, visitation, adoption, and paternity]

UTAH STATE CONSTITUTION

Article VIII Section 5 Constitution of Utah

[Jurisdiction of district court and other courts -- Right of appeal.]

[Except for matters filed originally with the Supreme Court, there shall be in all cases an appeal of right from the court of original jurisdiction to a court with appellate jurisdiction over the cause.]

** Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(4) Statement of Jurisdiction]

**** STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING SOLE PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF THE PARTIES' MINOR CHILD TO PETITIONER.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT PETITIONER IS NOT UNDEREMPLOYED AND REFUSING TO IMPUTE INCOME TO HER

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ALIMONY TO PETITIONER.

**** STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW**

Roderick v Ricks 2002 UT 84, (Utah 08/13/2002)

2002.UT.0000100 <<http://www.versuslaw.com>>

[89] ¶27 When reviewing a bench trial, appellate courts may not set aside a trial court's findings of fact "unless clearly erroneous."^{fn5} *Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a)*. To successfully demonstrate that a factual finding is clearly erroneous, the appellant must marshal all the evidence in favor of the factual finding and show that, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the trial court's factual finding, the favorable evidence is insufficient to support the finding. *Tanner, 2001 UT 18 at ¶ 17; State v. Robertson, 932 P.2d 1219, 1223-24 (Utah 1997)*. Moreover, in assessing whether a finding is clearly erroneous, reviewing courts must give "due regard...to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." *Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a)*

^{**}Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(5) Issues presented for review]

^{**}Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(5) Standard of appellate review]

**** ISSUES PRESERVED IN TRIAL COURT**

Despite Donovan T. Rose having filed objections to proposed Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law (**Record Vol II P 490 - 493**) , he did not , before the trial court, **(1)** raise objection, **(2)** submit memorandum of law, or **(3)** move the trial court to alter or amend judgment, and thereby allow the trial court an opportunity to address and rule upon issues petitioner now raises before the appellate court. (**See: URCP Rule 52 Findings by the court.**

Also See: UCA 30-3-4 [Findings]);

For the foregoing reasons, it is the contention of the appellee / petitioner (Kristyna Diane Rose) that issues now raised on appeal by respondent / appellant (Donovan T. Rose) were not preserved in the trial court.

****Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(5)(A) Issues preserved in trial court]**

**** STATUTES & RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE
OF THE APPEAL OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL**

UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

URCP Rule 52 Findings by the court.

(a) *Effect.* In all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon, and judgment shall be entered pursuant to Rule 58A;...

...Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses....

...It will be sufficient if the findings of fact and conclusions of law are stated orally and recorded in open court following the close of the evidence or appear in an opinion or memorandum of decision filed by the court...

(c) *Waiver of findings of fact and conclusions of law.*
Except in actions for divorce, findings of fact and conclusions of law may be waived by the parties to an issue of fact.

UCA 30-3-4 [Written Findings]

Amendment Notes – The 1995 amendment, effective July 1, 1995, added the second sentence of Subsection (1)(b) and in the second sentence of Subsection (1)(d) substituted “shall enter the decree” **for** “shall make and file findings and decree” and added the language beginning “or, in the case of” at the end.

****Utah R App P Rule 24 “Briefs” [(a)(6) Constitutional Provisions, Statutes, Ordinances, Rules, & Regulations whose interpretation is determinative of the appeal or of central importance to the appeal]**

**** STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by appellant / respondent (Donovan T. Rose) from a Decree of Divorce. Appellant / respondent Donovan T. Rose ("Mr. Rose") asserts that the trial court findings of fact as to the award to petitioner of sole custody of the parties' minor child, refusal to impute petitioner's income, and award of alimony to petitioner are in error.

COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

On June 2, 2003 (Complaint signed May 16, 2003) Kristyna Diane Rose ("Mrs. Rose") filed a Complaint For Divorce (**Record Vol I P 4- 16**). Complaint represented that Mrs. Rose was the primary caretaker of the minor child, that the minor child resided with Mrs. Rose since the time of the parties' separation, and that it was in the best interests of the minor child that permanent care, custody, and control of the child be awarded to Mrs. Rose (**Record Vol I P 5 ¶¶ 8-10**). Mrs. Rose also prayed for monthly alimony of \$1,000.00 in her complaint (**Record Vol I P 13 ¶ 27**).

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

On June 17, 2003 (Counterclaim signed June 12, 2003) Mr. Rose filed an Answer & Counterclaim (**Record Vol I P 30-45**). Mr. Rose admitted in his answer that the minor child had resided with Mrs. Rose since the date of separation (**Record Vol I P 31 ¶ 9**), but in his counterclaim prayed for an award of "...the permanent care, and sole custody and control of the minor child of the parties..." (**Record Vol I P 34-35 ¶ 7**). At no time did Mr. Rose ever amend or seek leave of court to amend his counterclaim to seek joint custody of the minor child, nor did Mr. or Mrs. Rose at any time during the course of the proceedings ever file a parenting plan with the trial court (**Record Vol II P 577 ¶ 15**).

On September 16, 2003, at hearing on motions for temporary relief filed by both parties, the domestic commissioner recommended that sole physical and legal custody of the minor child be awarded to Mrs. Rose (**Record Vol I P 72-73 ¶ 1**), subject to Mr. Rose's statutory visitation rights (**Record Vol I P 73 ¶ 2**), and the commissioner's recommendation was entered as the order of the court on October 24, 2003 (**Record Vol I P 181-184**).

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

Subsequent to the September 16, 2003 hearing on the parties' motions for temporary relief, pleadings were filed by Mrs. Rose supported by affidavits alleging a pattern of harassment and abusive behavior by Mr. Rose (**Record Vol I PP 96-116, 128-164, 167-174, 198-204**), while Mr. Rose responded with allegations that Mrs. Rose had interfered with his visitation rights (**Record Vol I P 214-220**). The allegations of both parties came before the trial court judge for hearing on November 24, 2003, and although the preliminary injunction obtained by Mrs. Rose on November 14, 2003 was "dissolved," the court entered a restraining order against Mr. Rose "...re any harassment, telephone calls, threats, etc. of plaintiff or others at her residence including no contact with the in-laws...", ordered the parties to limit their communications to visitation arrangements only, and ordered that a third party be used to effectuate the visitation pick ups and drop offs at Mrs. Rose's home (**Record Vol I PP 224-225, 229-234**).

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

Certificates of Completion of the Shared Parenting Course were filed by both parties on April 27, and April 28, 2004 (**Record Vol I P 293-294**), a Certification of Readiness) for Trial (including a Financial Declaration and income substantiation for Mr. Rose) was filed by Mr. Rose on May 7, 2004 (**Record Vol I P 314-335**), and a Financial Declaration was prepared for Ms. Rose during this period of time for use at the pre-trial conference that would result from filing of the Certificate of Readiness, although it does not appear in the record where it should be, though a file stamped attorney copy of that particular Financial Declaration executed by Ms. Rose on June 8, 2004, and filed with the Court on June 16, 2004, is present in the record as an attachment to the Certificate of Compliance filed on April 8, 2005 (**Record Vol II P 558-563**).

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

On June 16, 2004, case was certified for trial by the domestic commissioner at pre-trial conference where the first custody evaluation prepared by Dr. Heather Walker was discussed as follows in the domestic commissioner's minute entry:

"...Dr. Heather Walker has performed a custody evaluation and recommends what appears to be a joint physical custody arrangement that involves the parties exchanging the child on almost a daily basis. This does not appear to be in the best interests of the minor child. There is a history of domestic violence between these parties and Dr. Walker herself describes the Respondent as "controlling, argumentative and domineering.". From Dr. Walker's own report, it does not appear that these parties have the ability to communicate, cooperate and work together in a manner to effectuate joint physical custody. The child has been in the primary custody of the Petitioner since the parties' separation and it would appear to be the Respondent's burden of proof to show that it would be in the best interests of the minor child to change this **(Record Vol I P 341-342, ¶ 1)**.

The domestic commissioner's minute entry went on to address the issue of alimony as follows: "...The temporary order required the Respondent to pay marital debts in lieu of alimony. It appears that he has not done so and it appears that the Petitioner should be entitled to some alimony, particularly if the Respondent does file for Bankruptcy." **(Record Vol I P 342, ¶ 3)**.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

On August 6, 2004, Ms. Rose sought a continuance of the trial date to allow her to obtain a second custody evaluation by Dr. Earl E. Seegrist (**Record Vol II P 409 - 425**), and same was granted by the trial court judge by Minute Entry Ruling dated August 13, 2004 (**Record Vol II P 409 - 425**).

On September 30, 2004, bench trial was finally held before the Honorable, J. Dennis Frederick, Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Salt Lake City Department (**Record Vol II P 646 Transcript of Bench Trial**).

DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

After non-jury Bench trial, on September 30, 2004, the court made findings orally from the bench. The court granted Mrs. Rose a divorce on grounds of irreconcilable differences, awarded sole physical custody of the minor child to Ms. Rose, subject to Mr. Roses' statutory visitation rights with same to be effectuated by third party exchanges, with the parties to share joint legal custody (**Record Vol II P 645 Transcript of Trial Ruling**). The trial court declined to impute Mrs. Rose's income from part time to full time wages, and calculated child support based upon the actual incomes and hours worked by both parties, awarded alimony to Mrs. Rose, ordered that child care and health care costs be assumed by the parties pursuant to the state statutes, ordered that Mr. Rose

disgorge to Mrs. Rose one half of the earned income credit that he had failed to share with her, ordered Mr. Rose to assume and hold Mrs. Rose harmless from the marital debt, and ordered that both parties assume their own attorney fees **(Record Vol II P 645 Transcript of Trial Ruling).**

****Utah R App P Rule 24 "Briefs" [(a)(7) Statement of the case]**

***STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED**

General Undisputed Facts

The parties were married on June 24, 2000 **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 47 Line 18 - 19)**. The parties separated on or about April 15, 2003 **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 47 Line 19 - 20)**. The parties have one (1) child named Madyson Jean Rose, born September 5, 2002, who was two (2) years old at time of trial **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 47 Line 20 - 22)**. The minor child has been with her mother, Mrs. Rose, since birth **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 47 Line 22 - 23)**.

General Undisputed Facts (Continued)

Mrs. Rose's uncontroverted testimony that Mr. Rose and she could never come to agreement on anything, that he was controlling, and that she did not feel that Mr. Rose allowed her to have a say in their marriage, to make decisions for herself, or to do anything her own way, was accepted by the court as sufficient grounds to grant her a divorce from Mr. Rose for irreconcilable differences **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 7 Line 10 - 24)**. Ms. Rose was employed full time during the marriage several different times at medical offices up until the time that she gave birth to the minor child, but at that point became a stay at home mother **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 8 Line 3 - 8)**. At time of trial, Ms. Rose had been employed for approximately one (1) month as a PE Specialist at Bluffdale Elementary School earning \$8.17 an hour, twelve (12) hours a week **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 8 Line 15 - 25)**. Ms. Rose testified at trial that she had a gross income of approximately \$400.00 per month, and netted about \$300.00 per month **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 10 Line 13 - 25)**. At time of trial, Ms. Rose's financial condition required her to live with her parents, and receive state assistance, such as food stamps and Medicaid **(Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 11 Line 1-2)**.

General Undisputed Facts (Continued)

A third party intermediary was being used for visitation exchanges because of a history of domestic violence in the marriage (**Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 11 Line 9-24**). Child care was being provided at no cost to the parties by Mrs. Rose's mother in three (3) hour increments, up to twelve (12) hours per week, while Mrs. Rose was working, and the minor child would otherwise be at home in Mrs. Rose's care (**Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 15 Line 18-25, and P 16 Line 1-5**). Mr. Rose had, during a hearing prior to trial, been ordered to maintain the payments on the marital debt in lieu of paying alimony to Mrs. Rose, but had not done so, and creditors had commenced collection activities against Mrs. Rose by the time of trial (**Record Vol II P 646 Trial Transcript P 18 Line 1-25, and P 19 Line 1-5**).

General Undisputed Facts (Continued)

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